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Series Introduction


In 2004, the then Chief of Army Advisory Group, the Army’s senior generals, established a scheme to promote the study and understanding of military history within the Army. The focus was to be on Army’s future generation of leaders and from this the Campaign Series was created. The series is intended to complement Army’s other history publications which produces high quality, academically rigorous and referenced major analytical works.


The Campaign Series focuses on leadership, command, strategy, tactics, lessons and personal experiences of war. Each title within the series includes extensive visual sources of information – maps, including specifically prepared maps in colour and 3D, specifically commissioned artwork, photographs and computer graphics.


The Campaign Series covers campaigns and battles that comprise major conflicts as well as those battles or campaigns that are less well known. The Australian Army History Unit sees this series growing into a significant contribution to the history of the Australian Army and one that will provide an excellent introduction to the campaigns and battles it has fought.


Roger Lee, Army Historian
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The Western Desert (Mark Wahlert)


On the morning of 3 January 1941, Australian soldiers led an assault against the Italian colonial fortress town of Bardia. The fortress fell two days later after almost 55 hours of heavy fighting. The victory cost the attackers 129 men killed and 329 wounded. Italian losses were close to 1000 dead, some 3000 wounded, and a further 36,000 taken prisoner, including the five Italian divisional commanders present.


In numerical terms alone, leaving aside the vast quantities of military stores and equipment captured, the battle was a monumental Australian success. Five days after the battle ended it was described by Chester Wilmot, famous Australian war correspondent and author, as one of the greatest feats in Australian military history, a triumph of brilliant tactics, courage, speed and coordination. This book is its story.


The village of Bardia is situated on a small harbour on the Mediterranean coast of what was, in early 1941, Italy’s Libyan colony. Located a short distance west of the Egyptian border in the province of Cyrenaica, it had been developed between the wars as a military outpost, and was fortified with a string of defensive posts, almost 30 kilometres long, built in a semi-circular arc around the town.


Although Bardia was a sleepy village with a sedentary garrison in the years leading up to the Second World War, Italian dictator Benito Mussolini’s declaration of war on Britain and France in June 1940 dramatically increased its strategic significance, and sealed its fate. The strategic background to the battle is discussed in The Western Desert Campaign 1940-41, another volume in the Australian Army Campaign Series.


The fortress was used as a staging area for an abortive Italian invasion of Egypt in September 1940. Two months later, after a strikingly successful British counter-offensive, Bardia found itself on the front line as an obstacle to the continuing British advance into Libya. In the last weeks of 1940 it was effectively besieged. At this time the men of the 6th Australian Division, who began arriving in the Middle East in February 1940, were called to put into effect what they had been practising. It was time to test the heirs of ANZAC.


Beyond the scale of victory, Bardia was significant then, and remains important now, as the first battle of the Second World War in which an Australian formation took part. It was also the first significant action of that war commanded by an Australian general and organised by an Australian staff.


Bardia is not familiar to the wider Australian public. Very few have heard the name, except those with a specialised interest in Australian military history. It is a story, however, well worth telling, an epic, but also intensely human, tale. Any battle is the sum of individual trial and experience, and the story of Bardia overflows with heroism, cowardice, skill, incompetence, bravery and blunder, on both sides. It is well past the time to give Bardia, and those who fought there, the attention they deserve.




CHAPTER 1:


Bardia Fortress and the Plan to take it


In the 16 months from the outbreak of the Second World War to the end of 1940, events in North Africa moved at an increasing pace. On 11 June 1940, the day after Italy declared war on Britain and France, Italian forces stationed in Libya and the British and Commonwealth forces stationed in Egypt began a series of raids upon each other.


Quickly tiring of such indecisive engagements, however, on 8 August Mussolini ordered the invasion of Egypt with the Suez Canal as his objective, and perhaps even the Arabian oilfields. After considerable delay, on 9 September Marshal Rodolfo Graziani, in command of all Italian troops in Libya, ordered the Italian 10th Army across the Egyptian frontier. The invaders advanced to the small coastal village of Sidi Barrani, 95 kilometres inside Egyptian territory. There, they halted, dug in, and attempted to rectify their increasing supply problems.
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Italian Advance, September 1940. (Mark Wahlert)


In response to the Italian invasion, on 9 December 1940 the British Western Desert Force (WDF), commanded by Lieutenant General Richard O’Connor, launched a counterattack, Operation Compass. The Italians at Sidi Barrani were caught completely off-guard. By the next day WDF had taken more than 20,000 prisoners. On 11 December Sidi Barrani fell, and the pursuit of the remnants of Graziani’s invasion force to the Egyptian frontier began.


O’Connor was not, however, content to remove the Italians from Egyptian soil. The next step was to cross the frontier. Once across, the first obstacle to be overcome was the fortress of Bardia. By late December, Bardia was surrounded and effectively under siege by the British 7th Armoured Division and the newly arrived 6th Australian Division, under the command of Major General Iven Mackay, which had replaced the 4th Indian Division in WDF.


Originally an Arab fishing village upon which the Italians had superimposed a garrison town, Bardia was located on an isolated spit overlooking the sea. A trim village of single-storey mud or stone buildings in the Italian colonial style, it lay directly south across the Mediterranean from Athens, 100 kilometres east of Tobruk and 26 kilometres northwest of Salum. In Alan Moorehead’s words, it was a ‘picturesque Fascist settlement of white-walled houses and straight streets’. Others thought it ‘as pretty a place as one could find anywhere on the North African coast’.


Bardia village was split in half by the deep ravine of Wadi el Gerfan. The larger portion, Upper Bardia, sat on the northern side of the wadi mouth atop cliffs that fell 90 metres sheer to the sea. The buildings in Upper Bardia stood on a single main street, and included houses, cafes, a church, and military headquarters/barracks. Upper Bardia also contained a lighthouse, a marine observation station and a wireless station.


Lower Bardia, scattered below the cliffs next to Gerfan, was 1600 metres southwest of Upper Bardia, and connected to it by a steep tarmac road. It had more military buildings and barracks, storehouses, garages, a water pumping station, a small jetty for coastal vessels, and harbour office facilities.
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Even after 70 years, parts of Bardia remain little altered from the quaint seaside village entered by Australian and British troops in 1941. (Jeff Isaacs)


The harbour provided a landing area for seaplanes and an anchorage for ships of up to 4000 tonnes, which could be unloaded by lighter in fair weather. Coast artillery batteries were sited on the promontory on the southern side of Gerfan, and additional workshops and storage buildings were situated on the high ground west and southwest of the village. Nearby was a rough landing ground for light aircraft. To some British soldiers, the village was reminiscent of a seaside hamlet in Cornwall, perched high above steep rocks around two little coves.


In the immediate vicinity of Bardia village the coastline was indented by steep wadis that penetrated up to three kilometres inland. These dry watercourses varied from small creek beds to gorges up to 75 metres wide and 90 metres deep near the coast. To the west the wadis generally flattened out as they reached the perimeter defences on the plateau beyond the escarpment. The northern and southern extremes of this perimeter were bounded by the steep Wadi er Raheb and Wadi el Muatered respectively.


A track suitable for wheeled vehicles led south from the village 260 kilometres to Giarabub. From Bardia harbour a steep road also led up the escarpment, forking at the summit, leading to Tobruk to the west and Fort Capuzzo to the southwest. These roads, and a number of tracks in the area, were in very bad condition. Shell-holes, ditches, rough surfaces and dust placed heavy stress on vehicles using them. Drivers usually ran just off the road to avoid damage, and often zigzagged to hit large ditches at an angle. Wherever they moved, vehicles left plumes of dust that quickly became a general fog.
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The terrain of the Western Desert was very hard on all vehicles. Here a couple of Australian mechanics attempt to repair a truck that has obviously seen better days. (AWM P02399_015)


Looking inwards to Bardia, with the exception of the steep sides of Muatered to the south, the plain in front of the 6th Division appeared generally flat. From their foxholes the Australians could see a slight rise and fall, which grew into a wide, shallow depression nearer the Italian wire. Like much of the coastal strip it was poor desert country, not sand, but a rough brown packed soil dotted with stunted camel bushes. It was so desolate that even within the developed Australian positions, locations were often linked by placing stone arrows indicating direction. At night soldiers followed the arrow a predetermined distance before softly calling for permission to advance.


Uninteresting and monotonous terrain was one thing; strategic and operational importance was something else. While Bardia had little intrinsic value, as a military outpost it was of central importance to future British and Italian plans.


For Graziani it was the geographic and nerve centre of the surrounding stronghold. For him to carry out Mussolini’s mission of delaying and damaging any further British advance, the stronghold had to stand as long as possible. If Bardia fell too quickly, Tobruk might follow, and the whole Italian position in Cyrenaica would be threatened.
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Benito Mussolini (1) and his Commander in Chief of Italian North Africa, Marshal Balbo (2), visiting Benghazi, Libya, in 1940. While he may have written inspiring messages to his generals, Mussolini failed to grasp either the strategic or tactical situation of his troops in Bardia. (AWM 100329)


Documents found in the private files of Lieutenant General Annibale Bergonzoli, the Italian commander at Bardia, reflect the importance of a determined defence to the Italians. In November 1940 Mussolini wrote to Graziani:


I wish to inform you, and you will pass a similar communication to General Bergonzoli, that the Italian people, the Germans and other peoples, are watching the troops at Bardia with increasing admiration. To the already legendary exploits of Alcazer and Narvik is now added that of Bardia. It is a matter of holding out.


Bergonzoli replied that ‘the words of the Duce are the creed and the watchword for the coming year’. In late December 1940, another message from Mussolini read:


I have given you a difficult task, but one suited to your courage and experience as an old and intrepid soldier; the task of defending the fortress of Bardia to the last. I am certain the ‘electric beard’ and his brave soldiers will stand, at whatever cost, faithful to the last.


This time Bergonzoli noted that ‘I am aware of the honour and I have today repeated to my troops your message – simple and unequivocal. In Bardia we are, and here we stay’.


For the British Bardia was of equal significance. Around 30 kilometres from the Egyptian frontier, it was the first important position inside Italian territory. As the only sheltered anchorage east of Tobruk, and with its own brackish water supplies, it would be an important supply node for any advance deeper into Cyrenaica. Once it was clear the Italian garrison intended to stay, O’Connor’s slender force could not bypass it and advance deeper into Italian territory, leaving Bergonzoli’s sizable garrison to its rear. Bardia had to be broken.


There was more to breaking Bergonzoli’s stronghold, however, than a simple recognition that it must be done. The position was, in many ways, a natural fortress. As the perimeter backed onto the edge of a plateau that fell steeply to the sea, amphibious attack was near impossible. Furthermore, everywhere except in the south, any advance on the Italian wire had to cover almost 1000 metres without cover.
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Part of the Italian fortress village of Bardia, seen from the air. The cliff face surrounding the sea approach to the village made an amphibious landing impractical. (AWM 005865)


Such natural defensive characteristics were the starting point for Italian engineers, who had been fortifying Bardia at great effort and expense since 1937. The defensive area was some 17 kilometres long and eight kilometres deep. Enclosing this area were substantial defensive works in the form of a 29-kilometre arc with its base in the sea north and south of the village. The outer ring of this arc consisted of an almost continuous anti-tank ditch, broken only in the north and south of the perimeter, where the steep Raheb and Muatered wadis made the terrain too rough for tanks. Behind the ditch ran a double line of concrete ‘posts’. At the northern and southern extremes of the line these were set into the banks of the wadis. Between these extremes they looked westward across the flat expanse of the Cyrenaican plateau.


With the exception of areas broken by steep ravines near the coast, a double apron barbed wire fence 2.5 metres high and three metres wide linked the outer ring of posts There were 40 posts in the outer defensive ring, 500 to 750 metres apart, most protected by a circular 35-metre anti-tank ditch, sometimes concealed by thin boards. Although there were variations, each post contained three or four round, open, concrete-sided firing bays.


The centre bay was usually largest. This emplacement typically held a 47 mm anti-tank gun. On the flanks the other bays were usually machine gun posts. Each had a concrete stand in the centre to support the rear leg of a machine gun tripod. As no concrete extended above the ground, the firing bays usually had low stone sangars built up around them. Only a few isolated posts in the south were genuine pill-boxes, with overhead protection for their firing bays.


In a few cases in the southern sector of the perimeter, the defenders had built stone sangars as infantry fighting pits and mortar positions near or even outside the anti-tank ditch. In most forward posts, small concrete galleries behind the firing bays were used to store ammunition and spare parts.


Six anti-personnel/anti-tank minefields, varying from 200 to 900 metres long, and 100 to 300 metres deep, protected the forward line of posts on the western and southern faces of the perimeter. In addition, 17 of the outer posts had small, haphazard scatterings of mines to their front. At a number of other points in front of and between the forward posts, anti-personnel mines were dotted randomly on either side of the wire. These mines were about the size of a large can of fruit, filled with explosives and shrapnel. When the attached trip wire was activated, the mines jumped three metres in the air and exploded.


At a distance of around 200 to 450 metres behind the outer ring of fortifications was the secondary ring of 36 similar strong points. As these were designed to cover the posts in front, and to provide fall-back positions, they were built between the forward posts, but without anti-tank ditches, and usually without wire.


Although similar in construction, the inner posts usually contained only three firing bays. In some cases (particularly in the north) there were three machine gun bays and no anti-tank gun, while other posts had an anti-tank gun and two machine gun positions. One in every three or four rearward posts was a local command centre fitted with telephones and other communications equipment.


In all posts, the firing bays were connected by narrow trenches to a large underground shelter immediately to their rear. In some posts, again mostly in the south, these communication trenches were covered, but accessible from above by manholes. The underground shelter within each post was around 1.5 metres wide and nine metres long, with two square cubicles at each end, one often used as a command centre for the senior officer present. The concrete roofs of the shelters were between 75 centimetres and a metre thick, and well protected from artillery and air attack.
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A schematic representation of Post 47. This is a typical post layout encountered at Bardia, with three forward-oriented firing bays, in this case two for machine guns and one for an anti-tank gun.


Having limited ventilation, in many cases they were dark, cramped and unhygienic. Poor sanitation discipline saw many of them fouled and infested with lice and fleas. For this reason, some defenders dug their own ‘cubbies’ inside the connecting trenches of their posts, in which to sleep. In addition to the true ‘posts’ described above, in the particularly steep terrain in the coastal areas where the perimeter met the sea, clusters of machine gun posts were sited largely without wire or underground shelters.


All the posts in the two defensive lines were numbered consecutively from south to north, with odd numbers for outer posts and even numbers for inner positions. These numbers were painted on the posts as an administrative and navigational aid to the defenders,. Unfortunately for the Italians, this was a convenience not lost on attacking forces provided with few landmarks to confirm their position and direction. The average garrison of each post was 50 to 70 men, although this varied considerably in the course of the coming battle.
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Lower Bardia from the road leading to the main village above the cliff. (AWM 004907)


The defensive perimeter at Bardia was built specifically to protect the village from a British attack from Egypt. The natural line of advance against the fortress, and the only covered approach to the wire because of the tributary wadis leading into Muatered, was from the south.


To give greater protection to this sector, in addition to the six large minefields located on the southeast face of the perimeter, a second ‘Switch Line’ of posts was built running parallel to the southern face of the defences along Muatered, but three kilometres north. The Switch Line effectively created an independent fortified 4500 metre by 3600 metre box. The six posts in the Switch Line redoubt were (odd) numbered from R1 to R11.


At many points within the perimeter, around 30 metres behind the double row of posts, breastworks up to a metre high, constructed mostly from broken stone, were common. These low sangars were occasionally supplemented by wire apron fences. Perhaps running short of defensive materials, in a few locations in the southwest the Italians had built strange square obstacles, presumably anti-tank, from waste timber and tangled roots.


Across the perimeter, but further into the Italian position, the landscape was even more barren than the rest of the plateau. Any vegetation that might once have been present had been destroyed by years of vehicle traffic. Deep within the fortress, closer to Bardia village, additional isolated posts were built to cover areas considered to be of particular tactical importance or vulnerability.


British aerial photography showed more than 100 prepared gun positions, well back from the perimeter, tucked in rocky wadis with dugouts of brick or sand bags, and underground concrete chambers for ammunition. Closer to the coast the deeper wadis were used as shelters for men and vehicles, and storehouses and ammunition dumps.


The Italian garrison displayed a distinct aversion to patrolling, and effectively ceded control of no man’s land to the Australians. It was thus forced to find other means of providing early warning of an impending attack. This was predominantly by using artillery observation towers. Spread around the perimeter were what appeared initially to the Australians to be telegraph poles. Looking through binoculars, they discovered the poles were studded with large spikes to form a ladder leading up to a cage with a seat in it. A second style of observation post was a two storey circular stone tower. Bombproof shelters were built into the base of both designs.


The Italians complemented these lookouts by observation poles mounted on trucks to try to get a glimpse into areas not covered by the static towers. This system worked well, provided an attacker approached during daylight hours. Blind at night, and with nothing but a few sentries posted at ground level in the darkness, the garrison would have little warning of any attack launched before dawn. No doubt it also occurred to those manning these towers that they might make particularly alluring targets when the shooting began.
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Australian troops take shelter in an Italian anti-tank ditch during the bombardment of Bardia. These obstacles were overcome relatively quickly as they were inadequately covered by fire and observation, especially at night (AWM 069223)


If armament, expense and effort were any guide, Bardia looked secure. Large quantities of steel, cement, anti-tank obstacles, land mines and barbed wire were invested in the defences. The fortress seemed all but impregnable to those without an eye for military technicalities. Count Ciano, the Italian foreign minister, for example, believed that ‘its means of defence [were] such that if Bergonzoli holds firm the English will not have an easy task’.


As military professionals, however, O’Connor and Graziani were well aware that tonnage of concrete was not the secret of a tactically sound position. Much would depend on the troops charged with attacking and defending the fortress, and much more on the quality of the plans directing those men.


Behind the wire Bergonzoli commanded the remnants of five infantry divisions. Of the three metropolitan infantry divisions that withdrew inside the fortress after the rout at Sidi Barrani, Major General Giuseppe Amico’s 64th Catanzaro Division was reduced to 20 percent strength. No longer viable as a formation, its 1700 survivors became fortress troops and were merged with the 6000 strong force of Guardia alla Frontiera (GaF) frontier guards already manning perimeter posts, field and anti-aircraft artillery groups, and coast defence batteries. This composite force was supplemented by the few scattered leftovers of the 4th Blackshirt Division who had not surrendered in the previous battle. Amico commanded these fortress troops from GaF headquarters in Bardia village.


Although Lieutenant General Ruggero Tracchia’s 62nd Marmarica Division was relatively fresh, with 7500 men, the 63rd Cyrene Division, under Brigadier Alessandro De Guidi, was down to 6800 very tired soldiers, having lost one in every five of its members, four out of six of its infantry battalions, and its entire complement of light tanks during its retreat from the Sofafi and Rabia camps.


Major General Francesco Antonelli’s 1st Blackshirt Division, at Bardia when the British offensive began, was almost intact, despite having lost a small detachment at Mersa Lucch, captured by the 11th Hussars on 20 December. The fighting withdrawal of the 2nd Blackshirt Division, commanded by Major General Francesco Argentino, however, left it badly mauled and reduced to 5200 combatants. It had also cost Argentino much of his artillery, originally sent to reinforce the Italian invasion of Egypt.


In addition to the field infantry divisions and GaF troops at Bardia, there were some 11,000 assorted corps troops including three Bersaglieri (elite, highly mobile infantrymen) motorcycle companies, part of the dismounted Vittorio Emanuele Cavalry Regiment equipped with heavy machine guns, a machine gun company from the 60th Sabratha Division in Derna, a mixed engineering battalion, a number of tank units and a host of artillerymen.


On 26 December, Bergonzoli’s XXIII Corps headquarters commanded a garrison of just over 2000 officers and just under 43,000 men, although this is likely to have been drawn down nearer to 41,500 men in the week that followed. This force was equipped with 115 light (L3) and 13 medium (M13) tanks, 41 Breda 20 mm anti-aircraft guns, eighty five 47 mm and 26 Solothurn 20 mm anti-tank guns, forty one 65 mm infantry support guns, 147 field guns (75 mm and 77 mm), 76 howitzers (100 mm and 105 mm), 27 medium and heavy guns (120 mm and 149 mm), and a vast quality of other war materials. This considerable force represented all that was left of the 10th Army, slightly more than half its fighting strength at the outbreak of war.
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Italian forces at Bardia, 3 January 1941. (Mark Wahlert)


Outside the wire, opposing Bergonzoli’s garrison, stood WDF (re-named XIII Corps from 1 January), consisting of the 7th Armoured Division, the 6th Division, and assorted corps troops. By the New Year Mackay’s command had swollen considerably. His three infantry brigades (the 16th, 17th and 19th Brigades) were complemented by Major D.M. Macarthur-Onslow’s A Squadron of the 6th Division’s cavalry regiment, a field artillery regiment of 25-pounders (2/1st Field Regiment) and a mixed field artillery regiment of 18-pounders and 4.5 inch howitzers (2/2nd Field Regiment).


O’Connor had also attached the experienced and well-trained 1st Battalion, Royal Northumberland Fusiliers (RNF) and the anti-tank gunners of J and P Batteries, 3rd Regiment, Royal Horse Artillery (RHA). In addition, anti-aircraft batteries from WDF were placed in support of the 6th Division but not under Mackay’s direct command. Most importantly, O’Connor had placed his corps artillery assets at the 6th Division’s disposal, which more than doubled its normal allocation of fire support.


Under Lieutenant Colonel J.H. Frowen’s command the attached British artillery, called ‘Frew Group’, gave Mackay five additional batteries of 25-pounders and a battery each of 60-pounders, six-inch howitzers and five-inch guns. This made a total of 118 guns in support of the 6th Division, and brought with it the crucial support of a dedicated counter-battery capability complete with a sound-ranging and flash-spotting section.


Over this was laid O’Connor’s now not-so-secret trump card, the heavy Matilda infantry tanks of the 7th Battalion, Royal Tank Regiment (RTR), along with a British fleet in the Mediterranean which, after the Taranto Raid, was largely free to support a land attack on Bardia. The success of Air Chief Marshal Sir William Longmore’s increasing fleet of modern aircraft all but guaranteed generous air support to whatever plan O’Connor and Mackay hatched against Bardia.
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British and Australian forces available for the assault on Bardia, 3 January 1941 Image by (Mark Wahlert)


In developing a scheme to use his swollen, if wounded, garrison, Bergonzoli was well aware of Graziani’s overall intention to stand fast at Bardia, and Tobruk if necessary, to hold up any further British incursion into Libya. If sufficient delay could be imposed at these two strongholds, even if the British advance continued there would be time to fall back to a new defensive line at Derna, south to Mekili, in favourable defensive country.


Even if the Italians were then pushed back further, it would be on good roads to Barce and Benghazi, and onto shorter supply lines. With O’Connor overextended, the Italian air force ought to be able to pressure British supply lines, and the British advance must surely falter.


This entire organised retrograde operation depended, of course, on Bardia holding out for as long as possible. Bergonzoli’s plan to effect this delay by protecting Bardia was straightforward. He decided to defend the ‘shell’ of the fortress. By fighting forward at the perimeter, so his reasoning went, he could prevent any enemy breakthrough.


There were some compelling reasons for Bergonzoli to do this, not least of which was the nature of the prepared defences, an inherent lack of manoeuvre potential within his garrison, and significant limitations in Italian doctrinal thinking and operational flexibility. Certainly the propagandists in Rome had every confidence. On 30 December Italian radio called Bergonzoli ‘one of the bravest of the brave … never happy unless he is up in the front line with his men in the thick of the fighting … Therefore he is beloved of all’. Time would no doubt tell.


In order to achieve his aim, Bergonzoli divided the Bardia area into four defensive zones, which corresponded roughly to pre-existing GaF sub-division boundaries. The first sector was the area in the vicinity of and surrounding Bardia village. This area was defended by a proportion of Amico’s composite Catanzaro/GaF force, complemented by corps troops.
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Italian defences at Bardia. While appearing formidable on paper, the Italian plan for the defence of Bardia placed most combat forces on the perimeter. Consequently, the position lacked depth; a weaknesses that could have been overcome by a combination of a strong mobile reserve and counter-penetration force, air (or at least naval) superiority, and good intelligence, none of which were available or employed. (Mark Wahlert)


Beyond this small semi-circular sector surrounding the village, the rest of the fortress was divided into three sections, much like half a pie divided into thirds. ‘Gerfan Sector’ lay north of a line running from a point approximately one kilometre north of Upper Bardia out to the perimeter between Posts 45 and 47. The central ‘Ponticelli Sector’ enclosed the area south of Gerfan Sector and north of a line running from a point about four kilometres southeast along the coast from Lower Bardia out to the perimeter between Posts 17 and 19. The southern ‘Mereiga Sector’ encompassed everything south and east of this boundary line.


Each of Gerfan, Ponticelli and Mereiga Sectors (and along the Switch Line), contained four or five oval shaped sub-sectors, which generally enclosed seven or eight posts. Each of these sub-sectors, corresponding to a battalion grouping, was commanded by a post in the inner line. In Gerfan and Ponticelli Sectors these sub-sectors were side by side along the perimeter. In Mereiga, however, concentrated in a smaller geographic area and enclosed by the southern perimeter, the coast, and the Switch Line, they had much greater depth and density.


In line with the desperation, confusion and necessary reorganisation of Italian formations as they limped back inside the Bardia perimeter, the allocation of responsibilities for the outer sectors and sub-sectors was quite fluid throughout December 1940. By the New Year, however, the 2nd Blackshirt Division had been deployed to defend most of Gerfan Sector with units of the 1st Blackshirt Division holding positions just north of the Gerfan/Ponticelli boundary. Ponticelli Sector was held by the main force of the 1st Blackshirt Division, reinforced by elements of Marmarica.


The western portion of Mereiga Sector, including the western half of the Switch Line, was allocated to the bulk of Marmarica, and the remainder of Mereiga was held by Cyrene. The numerical concentration of troops in the southern sector was in line with the prevailing view that any attack would most likely come from that direction.


For the same reason Bergonzoli grouped a significant proportion of his artillery in two concentrations covering the southern approaches. The first consisted of at least eleven batteries of field and medium artillery located behind the perimeter sub-sectors in Ponticelli Sector, from the sector boundary with Gerfan Sector to the Bardia-Capuzzo Road. The second concentration, of similar size, was grouped in Mereiga Sector behind Muatered and just north of the Switch Line.


By contrast, to 27 December British intelligence had identified only three Italian battery positions in Gerfan Sector. The two southern artillery concentrations, far in excess of what British intelligence suggested was present, made their presence felt in no uncertain terms to the Victorians of the 17th Brigade once the battle commenced.


As Italian lookouts scattered along the perimeter strained to see through the pre-dawn darkness early in the New Year, few if any recognised how close they were to a climactic end to weeks of British/Australian siege. In any case, Bergonzoli and his garrison had made their choices and cast their lot. It is time to examine how Mackay and the headquarters staff of the 6th Division planned to break into the Italian fortress.
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